Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018

Registered number: 06003425

\*A8D00SØJ\*
A21 10/09/2019

10/09/2019 COMPANIES HOUSE

#131

# **Annual report and financial statements** For the year ended 31 December 2018

Contents	Page
Officers and professional advisers	1
Strategic report	2
Directors' report	3
Statement of directors' responsibilities	5,
Independent auditors' report to the members of Mondi Services (UK) Limited	6
Profit and loss account	9
Balance Sheet	10
Statement of changes in equity	11
Notes to the financial statements	12

# Annual report and financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

# Officers and professional advisers

### Directors

J L Hampshire A C W King J C Paterson M McHugh

### Company secretary

J L Hampshire

# Registered office

Building 1, 1<sup>st</sup> Floor Aviator Park Station Road Addlestone Surrey, KT15 2PG

# Bankers

Deutsche Bank AG Winchester House 1 Great Winchester Street London EC2N 2DB

# **Independent Auditors**

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 1 Embankment Place London United Kingdom WC2N 6RH

# Annual report and financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

# Strategic report

The directors, in preparing this strategic report, have complied with s414C of the Companies Act 2006.

#### Review of the business

The Company provides services and facilities to the Mondi Group and more specifically Mondi plc. The directors have the present intention of maintaining its business in the current form and believe the Company's future prospects to be satisfactory The Company's directors believe that key performance indicators of the Company are neither necessary nor appropriate for an understanding of the development, performance or position of the business.

The loss for the financial year after tax was £38,657 (2017: profit of £10,069). The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year (2017: nil).

#### Risk management

The directors considered the risks attached to the Company's financial instruments, which principally comprise operating debtors, operating creditors and loans to and from other group companies. The Company's exposure to interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk is not material for the assessment of assets, liabilities and the financial statements.

#### Future development

The directors have the present intention of maintaining its business in the current form and believe the Company's future prospects to be satisfactory.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 5 September 2019 and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Men

J C Paterson

Director

### Annual report and financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

# Directors' report

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

#### Directors

The directors, who held office during the year and to the date of this report, were as follows:

J L Hampshire A C W King J C Paterson P Wessels (resigned 20 May 2019) M McHugh (appointed 21 May 2019)

#### Directors' indemnities

The Company, via its ultimate parent undertaking (Mondi plc), has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors, which were made during the year and remain in force at the date of this report.

#### Information set out in the Strategic report

Disclosures relating to the following items have been included in the Strategic report, which can be found on page 2:

- · dividend payments and recommendations;
- financial risk management objectives, policies and related exposures to interest rate, currency, credit and liquidity risk; and
- likely future developments in the business of the Company.

#### Going concern

The directors believe that the Company will continue to act in line with its principal business activity as a service entity for the Mondi Group. The Company's ultimate holding company, Mondi plc, has confirmed that it will provide continued support for the Company to meet its obligations as they fall due for a period of not less than 12 months from the signing of the Company's annual financial statements.

As a result, the directors believe that the Company will continue to be a going concern into the near future and have adopted the going concern basis of accounting.

### Events occurring after 31 December 2018

There have been no material reportable events since 31 December 2018.

#### Statement as to disclosure of information to auditors

Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

- so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditors are unaware; and
- the director has taken all steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

# Annual report and financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

# Directors' report

# **Independent Auditors**

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditors and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 is deemed to remain in office as auditors of the Company.

The financial statements on pages 8 to 20 were approved by the Board of Directors on 5 September 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

J L Hampshire Company secretary

# Annual report and financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

# Statement of directors' responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework", and applicable law). Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

# Annual report and financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

# Independent auditor's report to the members of Mondi Services (UK) Limited

#### **Opinion**

In our opinion, Mondi Services (UK) Limited's financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of its loss for the year then ended;
- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework", and applicable law); and
- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual report and financial statements (the "Annual Report"), which comprise: the Balance sheet as at 31 December 2018; the Profit and loss account, the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

#### Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

#### Independence .

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

### Conclusions relating to going concern

ISAs (UK) require us to report to you when:

- the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
- the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the company's ability to continue as a going concern. For example, the terms on which the United Kingdom may withdraw from the European Union are not clear, and it is difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications on the company's trade, customers, suppliers and the wider economy.

# Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors' report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed,

# Annual report and financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

# Independent auditor's report to the members of Mondi Services (UK) Limited

we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) require us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below.

### Strategic Report and Directors' Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors' Report for the year ended 31 December 2018 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors' Report.

#### Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

# Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors' responsibilities set out on page 5, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

### Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors' report.

# Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

# Annual report and financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

# Independent auditor's report to the members of Mondi Services (UK) Limited

### Other required reporting

# Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
- certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Neil Proudlove (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

London

5 September 2019

# Profit and loss account

For the year ended 31 December 2018

	Note	2018 £	2017 £
Revenue	4	15,222,639	15,063,407
Personnel costs		(7,113,360)	(9,280,864)
Other operating costs		(7,494,812)	(5,650,920)
Depreciation	. 8	(525,821)	(131,748)
Gain on disposal of fixed assets		17	125
Operating profit	5	88,663	-
Investment income		46	-
Interest payable and similar expenses	6	(127,366)	(32,430)
Loss before tax		(38,657)	(32,430)
Tax on loss	7	<u> </u>	42,499
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive (expense)/income for the financial year		(38,657)	10,069

All amounts derive from continuing operations.

There are no items of comprehensive income or expense for the current or preceding financial year other than the (loss)/profit for the financial year shown above and therefore no separate Statement of Comprehensive Income has been presented.

# **Balance Sheet**

As at 31 December 2018

	Note	2018 £	2017 £
Fixed assets		_	_
Tangible fixed assets	8	1,510,796	53,810
Current assets			
Trade and other receivables	10	4,290,628	1,664,684
Total assets		5,801,424	1,718,494
Current liabilities			
Trade and other payables	12	(8,055,472)	(5,367,170)
Lease obligations	11	(485,946)	(3,076)
		(8,541,418)	(5,370,246)
Net current liabilities	•	(4,250,790)	(3,705,562)
Non-current liabilities		÷	
Lease obligations	11	(1,010,879)	(12,643)
Total liabilities		(9,552,297)	(5,382,889)
Net liabilities		(3,750,873)	(3,664,395)
Equity			
Called up share capital	13	.1	1
Accumulated losses		(3,750,873)	(3,664,396)
Total shareholders' deficit		(3,750,872)	(3,664,395)

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 5 September 2019. They were signed on its behalf by:

J C Paterson Director

Company registered number: 06003425

# **Statement of changes in equity** For the year ended 31 December 2018

	Called up share capital	Accumulated losses	Total
	£	£	£
Balance at 1 January 2017	1	(3,674,465)	(3,674,464)
Profit for the year	-	10,069	10,069
Balance at 31 December 2017	1	(3,664,396)	(3,664,395)
Impact of the change in accounting policy (IFRS16) <sup>1</sup>		(47,820)	(47,820)
Restated balance at 1 January 2018	1	(3,712,216)	(3,712,215)
Loss for the year		(38,657)	(38,657)
Balance at 31 December 2018	1	(3,750,873)	(3,750,872).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> IFRS16, 'Leases', was early adopted without restating comparative information. The impact from the adoption of the new standard is recognised in the opening balance sheet on 1 January 2018.

### Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

#### 1. General information

Mondi Services (UK) Limited is a private company limited by shares, incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England and Wales under the Companies Act. The address of the registered office is given on page 1. The nature of the Company's operations and its principal activities are set out in the Strategic report on page 2.

These financial statements are separate financial statements.

#### 2. Significant accounting policies

#### Basis of accounting

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financial Reporting Standard 100) issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 (Financial Reporting Standard 101) 'Reduced Disclosure Framework' as issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation to financial instruments, capital management, and presentation of comparative information in respect of certain assets, presentation of a cash-flow statement, standards not yet effective and related party transactions.

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the group financial statements of Mondi plc. The group financial statements are available to the public and can be obtained as set out in note 14.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the assets. The principal accounting policies adopted are described below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year and the preceding year, except for the following:

The new Standards IFRS 9, Financial Instruments', and IFRS 15, 'Revenue from contracts with customers (including amendments), are effective and have been adopted, together with the early adoption of IFRS 16, 'Leases', for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2018, without restating comparative information. The accounting policies have been updated to reflect the changes required by the new accounting standards. The transitional options selected are detailed below.

#### Going concern

After making enquiries, the directors have formed a judgement that, at the time of approving the financial statements, and having considered the Company's forecasts, projections and support from the parent company, there is a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operation for at least twelve months from approval of the financial statements. For this reason, the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

#### Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents rental income from external parties and amounts receivable for management services provided to other group companies, net of VAT and other sales-related taxes.

Rental income from leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Revenue from management services is recognised by reference to the proportion of the total cost of providing the services, and is invoiced to other group companies at cost.

#### Transitional option:

The company has adopted IFRS 15, 'Revenue from contracts with customers', on 1 January 2018 and in accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 15, comparative figures have not been restated. The adoption of the new standard had no significant impact. The revenue recorded from cost recharges from Mondi Services (UK) Limited to Mondi plc and the settlement of the receivable are executed monthly as a part of the monthly closing process in accordance with the Group's established internal policy.

### Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

### 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

#### **Taxation**

#### Current tax

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the Income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.

#### Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the statement of financial position liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction, which affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Income statement. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

#### Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company's statement of financial position when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

### Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with short-term, highly liquid investments of a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

#### Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are initially recognised at their fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less allowance for impairments.

Loans and receivables were previously held as 'loans and receivables' and were transferred to the category 'at amortised cost' effective from 1 January 2018. The transfer in financial asset category did not have an impact on the measurement of the financial asset.

### Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

#### 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

#### Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially recognised at fair value, net of direct transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

Other financial liabilities were previously held previously held as 'loans and receivables' and were transferred to the category 'at amortised cost' effective from 1 January 2018. The transfer in financial asset category did not have an impact on the measurement of the financial asset.

#### Transitional application

The company has adopted IFRS 9, 'Financial instruments', on 1 January 2018 and in accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 9, comparative figures have not been restated.

#### Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets comprise computer equipment, furniture, and equipment.

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes all costs incurred in bringing the equipment to the location and condition for its intended use.

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible fixed assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Assets held under leases are capitalised at the lower of cash cost and present value of minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease. These assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the expected useful economic lives of the assets.

Depreciation is charged to write off the cost of assets on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful economic lives to their estimated residual values. Useful economic lives have been estimated as follows:

right of use asset
 computer equipment
 furniture and equipment
 5 to 10 years

Residual value is calculated on prices prevailing at the date of acquisition or revaluation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of every reporting period.

The company has adopted IFRS 16, 'Leases', on 1 January 2018 and in accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 16, comparative figures have not been restated. Refer to note 8 for details.

#### Leases (until 31 December 2017)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

#### Operating leases

Rental costs under operating leases are charged to the Income statement in equal amounts over the lease term.

#### Finance leases

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Company at inception of the lease at the lower of fair value or the present value of the minimum lease payments derived by discounting using the interest rate implicit in the lease. The interest element of the rental is recognised as a finance charge in the Income statement.

# Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

#### 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

#### Leases (from 1 January 2018)

To the extent that a right-of-control exists over an asset subject to a lease with a lease term exceeding one year, a right-of-use asset, representing the Company's right to use the underlying leased asset, and a lease liability, representing the Company's obligation to make lease payments, are recognised in the statement of financial position at the commencement of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is measured initially at cost and includes the amount of initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred, including advance lease payments, and an estimate of the dismantling, removal and restoration costs required in terms of the lease. Depreciation is charged to the income statement so as to depreciate the right-of-use asset from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. This amounts to a lease term of two to three years for the right of use asset. The lease term shall include the period of an extension option where it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. Where the lease contains a purchase option the asset is written off over the useful life of the asset when it is reasonably certain that the purchase option will be exercised.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the future lease payments, including variable lease payments that depend on an index and the exercise price of purchase options where it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if readily determinable. If the rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used. Finance charges are recognised in the income statement over the period of the lease.

Lease expenses for leases with a duration of one year or less and low-value assets are charged to the income statement when incurred. Low-value assets are based on qualitative and quantitative criteria.

#### Transitional application:

The company has adopted IFRS 16, 'Leases', on 1 January 2018 and in accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 16, comparative figures have not been restated.

#### Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Company's accounting policies, which are described above, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The areas of judgement and estimation the directors considered included the assessment of deferred taxation (see note 9) and the discount rate on initial measurement of lease obligations (see note 11). The directors do not consider any of the judgements and estimates as critical accounting judgements or significant accounting estimates as defined in IAS 1.

# Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

### 3. Directors and employees

The Company had no employees during the year (2017: none). The directors received no remuneration or emoluments in respect of the services provided to the Company during the year (2017: nil).

#### 4. Revenue

	2018 £	2017 £
Rendering of services	15,209,639	15,054,407
Rental income	13,000	9,000
	15,222,639	15,063,407

#### 5. Operating profit

Employee costs of 23 employees of Mondi plc (2017: 23), of £7,113,360 (2017: £9,280,864) were borne by Mondi Services (UK) Limited on behalf of Mondi plc.

The audit fee for the audit of the Company's financial statements of £18,400 (2017: £17,949) has been borne by Mondi plc in both years.

### 6. Interest payable and similar expenses

	2018 £	2017 £
Interest payable to group undertakings	(38,703)	(25,162)
Interest on lease obligations	(88,663)	(7,268)
	(127,366)	(32,430)

Interest on amounts due to group undertakings is charged at current market rates and amounts due are payable on demand. Refer to note 11 for details on leases.

# Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

# 7. Tax on loss

### (a) Analysis of tax charge for the year

	2018 £	2017 £
Current tax UK corporation tax	<u>-</u>	42,499
Total current tax charge		42,499

### (b) Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The total tax charge assessed for both years differ from the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The differences are explained below:

	2018 £	2017 £
Loss before taxation	(38,657)	(32,430)
Loss before taxation multiplied by		
standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19%	7,345	6,243
(2017: 19.25%)		
Tax effect of:		
Expenses deductible/(not deductible) for tax purposes	(1,900)	(1,925)
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation / (Depreciation in excess of capital allowances)	(8,412)	(25,361)
Group relief surrendered and not charged	2,967	21,043
Prior year adjustment		42,499
Tax charge for the year	-	42,499

# Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

# 8. Tangible fixed assets

	Land and Buildings	Computer equipment	Furniture and equipment	Total
	£	£	£	£
Cost				
At 1 January 2017	-	530,892	2,595,548	3,126,440
Additions	-	10,234	1,131	11,365
Disposals		(988)		(988)
At 31 December 2017	-	540,138	2,596,679	3,136,817
Impact of the change in accounting policy (IFRS16)	2,407,696	<u> </u>	<del>-</del>	2,407,696
Restated balance at 1 January 2018	2,407,696	540,138	2,596,679	5,544,513
Additions	-	48,888	38,521	87,409
Disposals		(37,294)		(37,294)
At 31 December 2018	2,407,696	551,732	2,635,200	5,594,628
Accumulated depreciation				
At 1 January 2017	-	450,422	2,501,824	2,952,246
Charge for the year	-	58,478	73,271	131,749
Disposals		(988)		(988)
At 31 December 2017	-	507,912	2,575,095	3,083,007
Impact of the change in accounting policy (IFRS16)	512,298			512,298
Restated balance at 1 January 2018	512,398	507,912	2,575,095	3,595,311
Charge for the year	481,545	34,911	9,365	525,821
Disposals		(37,294)		(37,294)
At 31 December 2018	993,843	505,529	2,584,460	4,083,832
Carrying amount				
At 31 December 2018	1,413,853	46,203	50,740	1,510,796
At 31 December 2017	-	32,226	21,584	53,810
Impact of the change in accounting policy (IFRS16)	1,895,392	-		1,895,392
Restated balance at 1 January 2018	1,895,392	32,226	21,584	1,949,202

# Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

### 8. Tangible fixed assets (continued)

From 1 January 2018 the company early adopted IFRS 16 'Leases' without restating comparative figures. The right-of-use assets recognised on adoption of the new leasing Standard and are reflected in the underlying asset class of Land and Buildings (Office building) and the related lease liabilities are reflected as Lease obligations.

The carrying amount and depreciation charge accumulated held under lease (included in Furniture and equipment and in Land and buildings) amount to £1,425,387 (2017: £15,605) and £997,914 (2017: £15,605), respectively.

### 9. Deferred tax asset - unrecognised

	2018	2017
	£	£
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation	262,055	226,943
Deferred tax asset	262,055	226,943

No deferred tax assets have been recognised, as it is not considered likely that they would be recovered. The unrecognised deferred tax asset has no expiry date.

#### 10. Trade and other receivables

Amounts falling due within one year:

	2018	2017
	£	£
Amounts owed by group undertakings	3,314,610	1,225,488
Prepayments	359,243	298,419
Tax and social security	616,589	140,777
Other receivables	186	
	4,290,628	1,664,684

Interest on amounts owed by group undertakings is earned at current market rates, charged only on balances outstanding for more than 12 months, and amounts owed are payable on demand.

# Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

#### 11. Lease obligations

The Company has entered into a lease in the year 2016 for photocopiers. The lease term is 60 months and fixed instalments of £1,809 are payable quarterly in advance. All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments. The interest rate implicit in the lease is 7.11%.

From 1 January 2018 the company adopted IFRS 16 'Leases'. Therefore, the office building is reflected in the underlying asset class of Land and Buildings and the related lease liabilities are reflected as Lease obligations. The lease term is 60 months and fixed instalments of £163,060 are payable quarterly in advance with a 10 month period free of payment (at the beginning with December 2016 onwards). The interest rate applied to this lease is 4.98%.

#### Future minimum lease payments are as follows:

	2018	2017
	£	£
Minimum lease payments		
Within one year	550,769	7,236
Between two and five years	1,063,195	18,090
Future value of lease liability	1,613,964	25,326
Less: Future finance charges	(117,139)	(9,607)
Present value of lease liability	1,496,825	15,719
Lease amounts payable		
Within one year	485,946	3,076
Between two and five years	1,010,879	12,643
Present value of lease liability	1,496,825	15,719

# Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2018

#### 12. Trade and other payables

	2018	2017
	£	£
Amounts owed by group undertaking	3,225,837	2,807,283
Trade payables domestic	781,672	33,113
Accruals	3,208,187	2,416,747
Tax and social security	839,776	110,027
	8,055,472	5,367,170

Interest on amounts due to group undertakings is charged at current market rates and amounts due are payable on demand.

#### 13. Called up Share capital

	2018	2017
	£	£
Issued and fully paid		
1 ordinary share of £1	1	1

Mondi Services (UK) Limited is not restricted in the number of shares that can be issued.

# 14. Ultimate parent company

The immediate parent company and controlling party is Mondi Investments Limited, a company incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England and Wales.

The ultimate parent company and ultimate controlling party is Mondi plc, a company incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England and Wales. Mondi plc is the parent undertaking of the largest and smallest group which includes the Company and for which Group financial statements are prepared.

The financial statements of Mondi Investments Limited and Mondi plc may be obtained from the Company Secretary, Building 1, 1st Floor, Aviator Park, Station Road, Addlestone, Surrey KT15 2PG.